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Chapter 8 
Federal Common Law 

D. Implied Remedies for Violation of Constitutional Rights

Page 468: insert after the Note: 

Ziglar v. Abbasi 
Supreme Court of the United States, 2017. 

137 S. Ct. 1843. 
JUSTICE KENNEDY delivered the opinion of the Court, except as to Part IV-B. 

After the September 11 terrorist attacks in this country, and in response to 
the deaths, destruction, and dangers they caused, the United States Government 
ordered hundreds of illegal aliens to be taken into custody and held. Pending a 
determination whether a particular detainee had connections to terrorism, the 
custody, under harsh conditions to be described, continued. In many instances 
custody lasted for days and weeks, then stretching into months. Later, some of the 
aliens who had been detained filed suit, leading to the cases now before the Court. 

The complaint named as defendants three high executive officers in the 
Department of Justice and two of the wardens at the facility where the detainees 
had been held. Most of the claims, alleging various constitutional violations, sought 
damages under the implied cause of action theory adopted by this Court in Bivens 
v. Six Unknown Fed. Narcotics Agents, 403 U.S. 388 (1971). . . . 

[The United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York 
granted motions to dismiss as to some defendants, but denied them as to others. 
The Second Circuit held that the complaints were sufficient.] 

The Court granted certiorari to consider these rulings. . . . 
I 
A 

[Following the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, the FBI questioned 
thousands of individuals, including many aliens unlawfully in the United States.] 

If the FBI designated an alien as “of interest” to the investigation, or if it had 
doubts about the proper designation in a particular case, the alien was detained 
subject to a “hold-until-cleared policy.” The aliens were held without bail. 

* * *
B

Respondents are six men of Arab or South Asian descent. Five are Muslims. 
Each was illegally in this country, arrested during the course of the September 11 
investigation, and detained in the [the Administrative Maximum Special Housing 
Unit (or Unit) of the Metropolitan Detention Center in Brooklyn, New York] for 
periods ranging from three to eight months. After being released respondents 
were removed from the United States. 

Respondents then sued on their own behalf, and on behalf of a putative class, 
seeking compensatory and punitive damages, attorney’s fees, and costs. . . . The 
gravamen of their claims was that the Government had no reason to suspect them 
of any connection to terrorism, and thus had no legitimate reason to hold them for 
so long in [the] harsh conditions [of the Unit]. 
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2 FEDERAL COMMON LAW CH. 8 

 As relevant here, respondents sued two groups of federal officials in their 
official capacities. The first group consisted of former Attorney General John 
Ashcroft, former FBI Director Robert Mueller, and former Immigration and 
Naturalization Service Commissioner James Ziglar. This opinion refers to these 
three petitioners as the “Executive Officials.” The other petitioners named in the 
complaint were the MDC’s warden, Dennis Hasty, and associate warden, James 
Sherman. This opinion refers to these two petitioners as the “Wardens.” 
 Seeking to invoke the Court’s decision in Bivens, respondents brought four 
claims under the Constitution itself. First, respondents alleged that petitioners 
detained them in harsh pretrial conditions for a punitive purpose, in violation of the 
substantive due process component of the Fifth Amendment. Second, respondents 
alleged that petitioners detained them in harsh conditions because of their actual 
or apparent race, religion, or national origin, in violation of the equal protection 
component of the Fifth Amendment. Third, respondents alleged that the Wardens 
subjected them to punitive strip searches unrelated to any legitimate penological 
interest, in violation of the Fourth Amendment and the substantive due process 
component of the Fifth Amendment. Fourth, respondents alleged that the 
Wardens knowingly allowed the guards to abuse respondents, in violation of the 
substantive due process component of the Fifth Amendment. 

* * * 
C 

 The District Court dismissed the claims against the Executive Officials but 
allowed the claims against the Wardens to go forward. The Court of Appeals 
affirmed in most respects as to the Wardens. As to the Executive Officials, 
however, the Court of Appeals reversed, reinstating respondents’ claims. . . . 

II 
 The first question to be discussed is whether petitioners can be sued for 
damages under Bivens and the ensuing cases in this Court defining the reach and 
the limits of that precedent. 

A 
 In 1871, Congress passed a statute that was later codified at 42 U.S.C. 
§ 1983. It entitles an injured person to money damages if a state official violates his 
or her constitutional rights. Congress did not create an analogous statute for 
federal officials. Indeed, in the 100 years leading up to Bivens, Congress did not 
provide a specific damages remedy for plaintiffs whose constitutional rights were 
violated by agents of the Federal Government. 
 In 1971, and against this background, this Court decided Bivens. The Court 
held that, even absent statutory authorization, it would enforce a damages remedy 
to compensate persons injured by federal officers who violated the prohibition 
against unreasonable search and seizures. The Court acknowledged that the 
Fourth Amendment does not provide for money damages “in so many words.” The 
Court noted, however, that Congress had not foreclosed a damages remedy in 
“explicit” terms and that no “special factors” suggested that the Judiciary should 
“hesitat[e]” in the face of congressional silence. The Court, accordingly, held that it 
could authorize a remedy under general principles of federal jurisdiction. 
 In the decade that followed, the Court recognized what has come to be called 
an implied cause of action in two cases involving other constitutional violations. In 
Davis v. Passman, 442 U.S. 228 (1979), an administrative assistant sued a 
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D. IMPLIED REMEDIES FOR VIOLATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS 3 

Congressman for firing her because she was a woman. The Court held that the 
Fifth Amendment Due Process Clause gave her a damages remedy for gender 
discrimination. And in Carlson v. Green, 446 U.S. 14 (1980), a prisoner’s estate 
sued federal jailers for failing to treat the prisoner’s asthma. The Court held that 
the Eighth Amendment Cruel and Unusual Punishments Clause gave him a 
damages remedy for failure to provide adequate medical treatment. These three 
cases — Bivens, Davis, and Carlson — represent the only instances in which the 
Court has approved of an implied damages remedy under the Constitution itself. 

B 
 To understand Bivens and the two other cases implying a damages remedy 
under the Constitution, it is necessary to understand the prevailing law when they 
were decided. In the mid-20th century, the Court followed a different approach to 
recognizing implied causes of action than it follows now. During this “ancien 
regime,” Alexander v. Sandoval, 532 U.S. 275 (2001), the Court assumed it to be a 
proper judicial function to “provide such remedies as are necessary to make 
effective” a statute’s purpose, J. I. Case Co. v. Borak, 377 U.S. 426 (1964). Thus, as 
a routine matter with respect to statutes, the Court would imply causes of action 
not explicit in the statutory text itself. 
 These statutory decisions were in place when Bivens recognized an implied 
cause of action to remedy a constitutional violation. Against that background, the 
Bivens decision held that courts must “adjust their remedies so as to grant the 
necessary relief” when “federally protected rights have been invaded.” In light of 
this interpretive framework, there was a possibility that “the Court would keep 
expanding Bivens until it became the substantial equivalent of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.” 

C 
 Later, the arguments for recognizing implied causes of action for damages 
began to lose their force. In cases decided after Bivens, and after the statutory 
implied cause-of-action cases that Bivens itself relied upon, the Court adopted a far 
more cautious course before finding implied causes of action. In two principal cases 
under other statutes, it declined to find an implied cause of action. See Piper v. 
Chris-Craft Industries, Inc., 430 U.S. 1, 42 (1977); Cort v. Ash, 422 U.S. 66 (1975). 
Later, in Cannon v. University of Chicago, 441 U.S. 677 (1979), the Court did allow 
an implied cause of action; but it cautioned that, where Congress “intends private 
litigants to have a cause of action,” the “far better course” is for Congress to confer 
that remedy in explicit terms. 
 Following this expressed caution, the Court clarified in a series of cases that, 
when deciding whether to recognize an implied cause of action, the “determinative” 
question is one of statutory intent. If the statute itself does not “displa[y] an intent” 
to create “a private remedy,” then “a cause of action does not exist and courts may 
not create one, no matter how desirable that might be as a policy matter, or how 
compatible with the statute.” The Court held that the judicial task was instead 
“limited solely to determining whether Congress intended to create the private 
right of action asserted.” If the statute does not itself so provide, a private cause of 
action will not be created through judicial mandate. 
 The decision to recognize an implied cause of action under a statute involves 
somewhat different considerations than when the question is whether to recognize 
an implied cause of action to enforce a provision of the Constitution itself. When 
Congress enacts a statute, there are specific procedures and times for considering 
its terms and the proper means for its enforcement. It is logical, then, to assume 

Copyright © 2017 Carolina Academic Press, LLC. All rights reserved.



4 FEDERAL COMMON LAW CH. 8 

that Congress will be explicit if it intends to create a private cause of action. With 
respect to the Constitution, however, there is no single, specific congressional 
action to consider and interpret. 
 Even so, it is a significant step under separation-of-powers principles for a 
court to determine that it has the authority, under the judicial power, to create and 
enforce a cause of action for damages against federal officials in order to remedy a 
constitutional violation. When determining whether traditional equitable powers 
suffice to give necessary constitutional protection — or whether, in addition, a 
damages remedy is necessary — there are a number of economic and 
governmental concerns to consider. Claims against federal officials often create 
substantial costs, in the form of defense and indemnification. Congress, then, has a 
substantial responsibility to determine whether, and the extent to which, monetary 
and other liabilities should be imposed upon individual officers and employees of 
the Federal Government. In addition, the time and administrative costs attendant 
upon intrusions resulting from the discovery and trial process are significant 
factors to be considered. In an analogous context, Congress, it is fair to assume, 
weighed those concerns in deciding not to substitute the Government as defendant 
in suits seeking damages for constitutional violations. See 28 U.S.C. § 2679(b)(2)(A) 
(providing that certain provisions of the Federal Tort Claims Act do not apply to 
any claim against a federal employee “which is brought for a violation of the 
Constitution”). 
 For these and other reasons, the Court’s expressed caution as to implied 
causes of actions under congressional statutes led to similar caution with respect to 
actions in the Bivens context, where the action is implied to enforce the 
Constitution itself. Indeed, in light of the changes to the Court’s general approach 
to recognizing implied damages remedies, it is possible that the analysis in the 
Court’s three Bivens cases might have been different if they were decided 
today. . . . 
 Given the notable change in the Court’s approach to recognizing implied 
causes of action, however, the Court has made clear that expanding the Bivens 
remedy is now a “disfavored” judicial activity. This is in accord with the Court’s 
observation that it has “consistently refused to extend Bivens to any new context 
or new category of defendants.” Correctional Services Corp. v. Malesko, 534 U.S. 
61 (2001). Indeed, the Court has refused to do so for the past 30 years. 
 For example, the Court declined to create an implied damages remedy in the 
following cases: a First Amendment suit against a federal employer, a race-
discrimination suit against military officers, a substantive due process suit against 
military officers, a procedural due process suit against Social Security officials, a 
procedural due process suit against a federal agency for wrongful termination, an 
Eighth Amendment suit against a private prison operator, a due process suit 
against officials from the Bureau of Land Management, and an Eighth Amendment 
suit against prison guards at a private prison. 
 When a party seeks to assert an implied cause of action under the 
Constitution itself, just as when a party seeks to assert an implied cause of action 
under a federal statute, separation-of-powers principles are or should be central to 
the analysis. The question is “who should decide” whether to provide for a damages 
remedy, Congress or the courts? 
 The answer most often will be Congress. When an issue “ ‘involves a host of 
considerations that must be weighed and appraised,’ ” it should be committed to 
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“ ‘those who write the laws’ ” rather than “ ‘those who interpret them.’ ” In most 
instances, the Court’s precedents now instruct, the Legislature is in the better 
position to consider if “ ‘the public interest would be served’ ” by imposing a “ ‘new 
substantive legal liability.’ ” As a result, the Court has urged “caution” before 
“extending Bivens remedies into any new context.” The Court’s precedents now 
make clear that a Bivens remedy will not be available if there are “ ‘special factors 
counselling hesitation in the absence of affirmative action by Congress.’ ” 
 This Court has not defined the phrase “special factors counselling 
hesitation.” The necessary inference, though, is that the inquiry must concentrate 
on whether the Judiciary is well suited, absent congressional action or instruction, 
to consider and weigh the costs and benefits of allowing a damages action to 
proceed. . . . 
 It is not necessarily a judicial function to establish whole categories of cases 
in which federal officers must defend against personal liability claims in the 
complex sphere of litigation, with all of its burdens on some and benefits to others. 
It is true that, if equitable remedies prove insufficient, a damages remedy might be 
necessary to redress past harm and deter future violations. Yet the decision to 
recognize a damages remedy requires an assessment of its impact on governmental 
operations systemwide. Those matters include the burdens on Government 
employees who are sued personally, as well as the projected costs and 
consequences to the Government itself when the tort and monetary liability 
mechanisms of the legal system are used to bring about the proper formulation and 
implementation of public policies. These and other considerations may make it less 
probable that Congress would want the Judiciary to entertain a damages suit in a 
given case. 
 Sometimes there will be doubt because the case arises in a context in which 
Congress has designed its regulatory authority in a guarded way, making it less 
likely that Congress would want the Judiciary to interfere. And sometimes there 
will be doubt because some other feature of a case . . . causes a court to pause 
before acting without express congressional authorization. In sum, if there are 
sound reasons to think Congress might doubt the efficacy or necessity of a 
damages remedy as part of the system for enforcing the law and correcting a 
wrong, the courts must refrain from creating the remedy in order to respect the 
role of Congress in determining the nature and extent of federal-court jurisdiction 
under Article III. 
 In a related way, if there is an alternative remedial structure present in a 
certain case, that alone may limit the power of the Judiciary to infer a new Bivens 
cause of action. For if Congress has created “any alternative, existing process for 
protecting the [injured party’s] interest” that itself may “amoun[t] to a convincing 
reason for the Judicial Branch to refrain from providing a new and freestanding 
remedy in damages.” 

III 
 It is appropriate now to turn first to the Bivens claims challenging the 
conditions of confinement imposed on respondents pursuant to the formal policy 
adopted by the Executive Officials in the wake of the September 11 attacks. The 
Court will refer to these claims as the “detention policy claims.” The detention 
policy claims allege that petitioners violated respondents’ due process and equal 
protection rights by holding them in restrictive conditions of confinement; the 
claims further allege that the Wardens violated the Fourth and Fifth Amendments 
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6 FEDERAL COMMON LAW CH. 8 

by subjecting respondents to frequent strip searches. . . . At this point, the question 
is whether, having considered the relevant special factors in the whole context of 
the detention policy claims, the Court should extend a Bivens-type remedy to those 
claims. 

A 
 Before allowing respondents’ detention policy claims to proceed under 
Bivens, the Court of Appeals did not perform any special factors analysis at all. 
The reason, it said, was that the special factors analysis is necessary only if a 
plaintiff asks for a Bivens remedy in a new context. And in the Court of Appeals’ 
view, the context here was not new. 
 To determine whether the Bivens context was novel, the Court of Appeals 
employed a two-part test. First, it asked whether the asserted constitutional right 
was at issue in a previous Bivens case. Second, it asked whether the mechanism of 
injury was the same mechanism of injury in a previous Bivens case. Under the 
Court of Appeals’ approach, if the answer to both questions is “yes,” then the 
context is not new and no special factors analysis is required. 
 That approach is inconsistent with the analysis in Malesko. Before the Court 
decided that case, it had approved [in Carlson] a Bivens action under the Eighth 
Amendment against federal prison officials for failure to provide medical 
treatment. In Malesko, the plaintiff sought relief against a private prison operator 
in almost parallel circumstances. In both cases, the right at issue was the same: the 
Eighth Amendment right to be free from cruel and unusual punishment. And in 
both cases, the mechanism of injury was the same: failure to provide adequate 
medical treatment. Thus, if the approach followed by the Court of Appeals is the 
correct one, this Court should have held that the cases arose in the same context, 
obviating any need for a special factors inquiry. 
 That, however, was not the controlling analytic frame-work in Malesko. Even 
though the right and the mechanism of injury were the same as they were in 
Carlson, the Court held that the contexts were different. The Court explained that 
special factors counseled hesitation and that the Bivens remedy was therefore 
unavailable. 

* * * 
 The proper test for determining whether a case presents a new Bivens 
context is as follows. If the case is different in a meaningful way from previous 
Bivens cases decided by this Court, then the context is new. Without endeavoring 
to create an exhaustive list of differences that are meaningful enough to make a 
given context a new one, some examples might prove instructive. A case might 
differ in a meaningful way because of the rank of the officers involved; the 
constitutional right at issue; the generality or specificity of the official action; the 
extent of judicial guidance as to how an officer should respond to the problem or 
emergency to be confronted; the statutory or other legal mandate under which the 
officer was operating; the risk of disruptive intrusion by the Judiciary into the 
functioning of other branches; or the presence of potential special factors that 
previous Bivens cases did not consider. 
 In the present suit, respondents’ detention policy claims challenge the 
confinement conditions imposed on illegal aliens pursuant to a high-level executive 
policy created in the wake of a major terrorist attack on American soil. Those 
claims bear little resemblance to the three Bivens claims the Court has approved in 
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the past: a claim against FBI agents for handcuffing a man in his own home 
without a warrant; a claim against a Congressman for firing his female secretary; 
and a claim against prison officials for failure to treat an inmate’s asthma. The 
Court of Appeals therefore should have held that this was a new Bivens context. 

B 
 After considering the special factors necessarily implicated by the detention 
policy claims, the Court now holds that those factors show that whether a damages 
action should be allowed is a decision for the Congress to make, not the courts. 
 With respect to the claims against the Executive Officials, it must be noted 
that a Bivens action is not “a proper vehicle for altering an entity’s policy.” 
Furthermore, a Bivens claim is brought against the individual official for his or her 
own acts, not the acts of others. “The purpose of Bivens is to deter the officer.” 
Bivens is not designed to hold officers responsible for acts of their subordinates. 
 Even if the action is confined to the conduct of a particular Executive Officer 
in a discrete instance, these claims would call into question the formulation and 
implementation of a general policy. This, in turn, would necessarily require inquiry 
and discovery into the whole course of the discussions and deliberations that led to 
the policies and governmental acts being challenged. These consequences counsel 
against allowing a Bivens action against the Executive Officials, for the burden and 
demand of litigation might well prevent them — or, to be more precise, future 
officials like them — from devoting the time and effort required for the proper 
discharge of their duties. 
 A closely related problem, as just noted, is that the discovery and litigation 
process would either border upon or directly implicate the discussion and 
deliberations that led to the formation of the policy in question. Allowing a 
damages suit in this context, or in a like context in other circumstances, would 
require courts to interfere in an intrusive way with sensitive functions of the 
Executive Branch. 
 In addition to this special factor, which applies to the claims against the 
Executive Officials, there are three other special factors that apply as well to the 
detention policy claims against all of the petitioners. First, respondents’ detention 
policy claims challenge more than standard “law enforcement operations.” They 
challenge as well major elements of the Government’s whole response to the 
September 11 attacks, thus of necessity requiring an inquiry into sensitive issues of 
national security. Were this inquiry to be allowed in a private suit for damages, the 
Bivens action would assume dimensions far greater than those present in Bivens 
itself, or in either of its two follow-on cases, or indeed in any putative Bivens case 
yet to come before the Court. 
 National-security policy is the prerogative of the Congress and President. 
Judicial inquiry into the national-security realm raises “concerns for the separation 
of powers in trenching on matters committed to the other branches.” These 
concerns are even more pronounced when the judicial inquiry comes in the context 
of a claim seeking money damages rather than a claim seeking injunctive or other 
equitable relief. The risk of personal damages liability is more likely to cause an 
official to second-guess difficult but necessary decisions concerning national-
security policy. 

* * * 
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 There are limitations, of course, on the power of the Executive under Article 
II of the Constitution and in the powers authorized by congressional enactments, 
even with respect to matters of national security. And national-security concerns 
must not become a talisman used to ward off inconvenient claims — a “label” used 
to “cover a multitude of sins.” This “ ‘danger of abuse’ ” is even more heightened 
given “ ‘the difficulty of defining’ ” the “ ‘security interest’ ” in domestic cases. 
 Even so, the question is only whether “congressionally uninvited intrusion” is 
“inappropriate” action for the Judiciary to take. The factors discussed above all 
suggest that Congress’ failure to provide a damages remedy might be more than 
mere oversight, and that congressional silence might be more than “inadvertent.” 
This possibility counsels hesitation “in the absence of affirmative action by 
Congress.” 
 Furthermore, in any inquiry respecting the likely or probable intent of 
Congress, the silence of Congress is relevant; and here that silence is telling. In the 
almost 16 years since September 11, the Federal Government’s responses to that 
terrorist attack have been well documented. Congressional interest has been 
“frequent and intense,” and some of that interest has been directed to the 
conditions of confinement at issue here. Indeed, at Congress’ behest, the 
Department of Justice’s Office of the Inspector General compiled a 300-page report 
documenting the conditions in the MDC in great detail. Nevertheless, “[a]t no point 
did Congress choose to extend to any person the kind of remedies that respondents 
seek in this lawsuit.” 
 This silence is notable because it is likely that high-level policies will attract 
the attention of Congress. Thus, when Congress fails to provide a damages remedy 
in circumstances like these, it is much more difficult to believe that “congressional 
inaction” was “inadvertent.” 
 It is of central importance, too, that this is not a case like Bivens or Davis in 
which “it is damages or nothing.” Unlike the plaintiffs in those cases, respondents 
do not challenge individual instances of discrimination or law enforcement 
overreach, which due to their very nature are difficult to address except by way of 
damages actions after the fact. Respondents instead challenge large-scale policy 
decisions concerning the conditions of confinement imposed on hundreds of 
prisoners. To address those kinds of decisions, detainees may seek injunctive relief. 
And in addition to that, we have left open the question whether they might be able 
to challenge their confinement conditions via a petition for a writ of habeas corpus. 
Indeed, the habeas remedy, if necessity required its use, would have provided a 
faster and more direct route to relief than a suit for money damages. . . . 
 There is a persisting concern, of course, that absent a Bivens remedy there 
will be insufficient deterrence to prevent officers from violating the Constitution. 
In circumstances like those presented here, however, the stakes on both sides of 
the argument are far higher than in past cases the Court has considered. If Bivens 
liability were to be imposed, high officers who face personal liability for damages 
might refrain from taking urgent and lawful action in a time of crisis. And, as 
already noted, the costs and difficulties of later litigation might intrude upon and 
interfere with the proper exercise of their office. 
 On the other side of the balance, the very fact that some executive actions 
have the sweeping potential to affect the liberty of so many is a reason to consider 
proper means to impose restraint and to provide some redress from injury. There 
is therefore a balance to be struck, in situations like this one, between deterring 
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constitutional violations and freeing high officials to make the lawful decisions 
necessary to protect the Nation in times of great peril. The proper balance is one 
for the Congress, not the Judiciary, to undertake. For all of these reasons, the 
Court of Appeals erred by allowing respondents’ detention policy claims to proceed 
under Bivens. 

IV 
A 

 One of respondents’ claims under Bivens requires a different analysis: the 
prisoner abuse claim against the MDC’s warden, Dennis Hasty. The allegation is 
that Warden Hasty violated the Fifth Amendment by allowing prison guards to 
abuse respondents. 

* * * 
 The complaint alleges that guards routinely abused respondents; that the 
warden encouraged the abuse by referring to respondents as “terrorists”; that he 
prevented respondents from using normal grievance procedures; that he stayed 
away from the Unit to avoid seeing the abuse; that he was made aware of the abuse 
via “inmate complaints, staff complaints, hunger strikes, and suicide attempts”; 
that he ignored other “direct evidence of [the] abuse, including logs and other 
official [records]”; that he took no action “to rectify or address the situation”; and 
that the abuse resulted in the injuries described above, see. These allegations — 
assumed here to be true, subject to proof at a later stage — plausibly show the 
warden’s deliberate indifference to the abuse. Consistent with the opinion of every 
judge in this case to have considered the question, including the dissenters in the 
Court of Appeals, the Court concludes that the prisoner abuse allegations against 
Warden Hasty state a plausible ground to find a constitutional violation if a Bivens 
remedy is to be implied. 
 Warden Hasty argues, however, that Bivens ought not to be extended to this 
instance of alleged prisoner abuse. As noted above, the first question a court must 
ask in a case like this one is whether the claim arises in a new Bivens context, i.e., 
whether “the case is different in a meaningful way from previous Bivens cases 
decided by this Court.” 
 It is true that this case has significant parallels to [Carlson]. There, the Court 
did allow a Bivens claim for prisoner mistreatment — specifically, for failure to 
provide medical care. And the allegations of injury here are just as compelling as 
those at issue in Carlson. 
 Yet even a modest extension is still an extension. And this case does seek to 
extend Carlson to a new context. . . . 
 The constitutional right is different here, since Carlson was predicated on the 
Eighth Amendment and this claim is predicated on the Fifth. And the judicial 
guidance available to this warden, with respect to his supervisory duties, was less 
developed. The Court has long made clear the standard for claims alleging failure 
to provide medical treatment to a prisoner — “deliberate indifference to serious 
medical needs.” The standard for a claim alleging that a warden allowed guards to 
abuse pre-trial detainees is less clear under the Court’s precedents. 
 This case also has certain features that were not considered in the Court’s 
previous Bivens cases and that might discourage a court from authorizing a Bivens 
remedy. As noted above, the existence of alternative remedies usually precludes a 
court from authorizing a Bivens action. And there might have been alternative 
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remedies available here, for example, a writ of habeas corpus, an injunction 
requiring the warden to bring his prison into compliance with the regulations 
discussed above; or some other form of equitable relief. 
 Furthermore, legislative action suggesting that Congress does not want a 
damages remedy is itself a factor counseling hesitation. Some 15 years after 
Carlson was decided, Congress passed the Prison Litigation Reform Act of 1995, 
which made comprehensive changes to the way prisoner abuse claims must be 
brought in federal court. See 42 U.S.C. § 1997e. . . . [T]he Act itself does not 
provide for a standalone damages remedy against federal jailers. It could be 
argued that this suggests Congress chose not to extend the Carlson damages 
remedy to cases involving other types of prisoner mistreatment. 
 The differences between this claim and the one in Carlson are perhaps small, 
at least in practical terms. Given this Court’s expressed caution about extending 
the Bivens remedy, however, the new-context inquiry is easily satisfied. Some 
differences, of course, will be so trivial that they will not suffice to create a new 
Bivens context. But here the differences identified above are at the very least 
meaningful ones. Thus, before allowing this claim to proceed under Bivens, the 
Court of Appeals should have performed a special factors analysis. 

B 
 Although the Court could perform that analysis in the first instance, . . . the 
Court declines to perform the special factors analysis itself. The better course is to 
vacate the judgment below, allowing the Court of Appeals or the District Court to 
do so on remand. 

V 
* * * 

B 
* * * 

 The judgment of the Court of Appeals is reversed as to all of the claims 
except the prisoner abuse claim against Warden Hasty. The judgment of the Court 
of Appeals with respect to that claim is vacated, and that case is remanded for 
further proceedings. 
It is so ordered. 
 JUSTICE SOTOMAYOR, JUSTICE KAGAN, and JUSTICE GORSUCH took no part 
in the consideration or decision of these cases. 
JUSTICE THOMAS, concurring in part and concurring in the judgment. 
 I join the Court’s opinion except for Part IV-B. 

I 
 With respect to respondents’ Bivens claims, I join the opinion of the Court to 
the extent it reverses the Second Circuit’s ruling. The Court correctly applies our 
precedents to hold that Bivens does not supply a cause of action against petitioners 
for most of the alleged Fourth and Fifth Amendment violations. It also correctly 
recognizes that respondents’ claims against petitioner Dennis Hasty seek to extend 
Bivens to a new context. 
 I concur in the judgment of the Court vacating the Court of Appeals’ 
judgment with regard to claims against Hasty. I have previously noted that 
“ ‘Bivens is a relic of the heady days in which this Court assumed common-law 
powers to create causes of action.’ ” I have thus declined to “extend Bivens even 

Copyright © 2017 Carolina Academic Press, LLC. All rights reserved.



D. IMPLIED REMEDIES FOR VIOLATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS 11 

[where] its reasoning logically applied,” thereby limiting “Bivens and its 
progeny . . . to the precise circumstances that they involved.” This would, in most 
cases, mean a reversal of the judgment of the Court of Appeals is in order. 
However, in order for there to be a controlling judgment in this suit, I concur in 
the judgment vacating and remanding the claims against petitioner Hasty as that 
disposition is closest to my preferred approach. 

II 
* * * 

JUSTICE BREYER, with whom JUSTICE GINSBURG joins, dissenting. 
* * * 

 The plaintiffs before us today seek damages for unconstitutional conditions of 
confinement. They alleged that federal officials slammed them against walls, 
shackled them, exposed them to nonstop lighting, lack of hygiene, and the like, all 
based upon invidious discrimination and without penological justification. In my 
view, these claims are well-pleaded, state violations of clearly established law, and 
fall within the scope of longstanding Bivens law. For those reasons, I would affirm 
the judgment of the Court of Appeals. . . . 

* * * 
I 

* * * 
A 

 [Justice Breyer described the development of Bivens remedies.] 
* * * 

 As the majority opinion points out, this Court in more recent years has 
indicated that “expanding the Bivens remedy is now a ‘disfavored’ judicial activity.” 
Thus, it has held that the remedy is not available in the context of suits against 
military officers, in the context of suits against privately operated prisons and their 
employees, in the context of suits seeking to vindicate procedural, rather than 
substantive, constitutional protections, and in the context of suits seeking to 
vindicate two quite different forms of important substantive protection, one 
involving free speech, and the other involving protection of land rights. Each of 
these cases involved a context that differed from that of Bivens, Davis, and Carlson 
with respect to the kind of defendant, the basic nature of the right, or the kind of 
harm suffered. That is to say, as we have explicitly stated, these cases were 
“fundamentally different from anything recognized in Bivens or subsequent cases.” 
In each of them, the plaintiffs were asking the Court to “ ‘authoriz[e] a new kind of 
federal litigation.’ ” 
 Thus the Court, as the majority opinion says, repeatedly wrote that it was 
not “expanding” the scope of the Bivens remedy. But the Court nowhere suggested 
that it would narrow Bivens’ existing scope. In fact, to diminish any ambiguity 
about its holdings, the Court set out a framework for determining whether a claim 
of constitutional violation calls for a Bivens remedy. At Step One, the court must 
determine whether the case before it arises in a “new context,” that is, whether it 
involves a “new category of defendants,” or (presumably) a significantly different 
kind of constitutional harm, such as a purely procedural harm, a harm to speech, or 
a harm caused to physical property. If the context is new, then the court proceeds 
to Step Two and asks “whether any alternative, existing process for protecting the 
interest amounts to a convincing reason for the Judicial Branch to refrain from 
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providing a new and freestanding remedy in damages.” If there is none, then the 
court proceeds to Step Three and asks whether there are “ ‘any special factors 
counselling hesitation before authorizing a new kind of federal litigation.’ ” 
 Precedent makes this framework applicable here. I would apply it. And, 
doing so, I cannot get past Step One. This suit, it seems to me, arises in a context 
similar to those in which this Court has previously permitted Bivens actions. 

B 
1 

 The context here is not “new,” or “fundamentally different” than our 
previous Bivens cases. First, the plaintiffs are civilians, not members of the 
military. They are not citizens, but the Constitution protects noncitizens against 
serious mistreatment, as it protects citizens. Some or all of the plaintiffs here may 
have been illegally present in the United States. But that fact cannot justify 
physical mistreatment. Nor does anyone claim that that fact deprives them of a 
Bivens right available to other persons, citizens and noncitizens alike. 
 Second, the defendants are Government officials. They are not members of 
the military or private persons. . . . 
 Third, from a Bivens perspective, the injuries that the plaintiffs claim they 
suffered are familiar ones. They focus upon the conditions of confinement. The 
plaintiffs say that they were unnecessarily shackled, confined in small unhygienic 
cells, subjected to continuous lighting (presumably preventing sleep), 
unnecessarily and frequently strip searched, slammed against walls, injured 
physically, and subject to verbal abuse. They allege that they suffered these harms 
because of their race or religion, the defendants having either turned a blind eye to 
what was happening or themselves introduced policies that they knew would lead 
to these harms even though the defendants knew the plaintiffs had no connections 
to terrorism. 
 These claimed harms are similar to, or even worse than, the harms the 
plaintiffs suffered in Bivens (unreasonable search and seizure in violation of the 
Fourth Amendment), Davis (unlawful discrimination in violation of the Fifth 
Amendment), and Carlson (deliberate indifference to medical need in violation of 
the Eighth Amendment). Indeed, we have said that, “[i]f a federal prisoner in a 
[Bureau of Prisons] facility alleges a constitutional deprivation, he may bring a 
Bivens claim against the offending individual officer, subject to the defense of 
qualified immunity.” Malesko. The claims in this suit would seem to fill the Bivens’ 
bill. 
 It is true that the plaintiffs bring their “deliberate indifference” claim against 
Warden Hasty under the Fifth Amendment’s Due Process Clause, not the Eighth 
Amendment’s Cruel and Unusual Punishment Clause, as in Carlson. But that is 
because the latter applies to convicted criminals while the former applies to 
pretrial and immigration detainees. Where the harm is the same, where this Court 
has held that both the Fifth and Eighth Amendments give rise to Bivens’ remedies, 
and where the only difference in constitutional scope consists of a circumstance 
(the absence of a conviction) that makes the violation here worse, it cannot be 
maintained that the difference between the use of the two Amendments is 
“fundamental.” . . . . 
 Nor has Congress suggested that it wants to withdraw a damages remedy in 
circumstances like these. By its express terms, the Prison Litigation Reform Act of 

Copyright © 2017 Carolina Academic Press, LLC. All rights reserved.



D. IMPLIED REMEDIES FOR VIOLATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS 13 

1995 (PLRA) does not apply to immigration detainees. See 42 U.S.C. § 1997e(h) 
(“[T]he term ‘prisoner’ means any person incarcerated or detained in any facility 
who is accused of, convicted of, sentenced for, or adjudicated delinquent for, 
violations of criminal law . . .”). . . . 
 If there were any lingering doubt that the claim against Warden Hasty arises 
in a familiar Bivens context, the Court has made clear that conditions-of-
confinement claims and medical-care claims are subject to the same substantive 
standard. See Hudson v. McMillian, 503 U.S. 1, 8 (1992) (“[Wilson v. Seiter, 501 
U.S. 294, 303 (1991)] extended the deliberate indifference standard applied to 
Eighth Amendment claims involving medical care to claims about conditions of 
confinement”). Indeed, the Court made this very point in a Bivens case alleging 
that prison wardens were deliberately indifferent to an inmate’s safety. 

* * * 
 Because the context here is not new, I would allow the plaintiffs’ 
constitutional claims to proceed. . . . 

2 
 Even were I wrong and were the context here “fundamentally different,” the 
plaintiffs’ claims would nonetheless survive Step Two and Step Three of the 
Court’s framework for determining whether Bivens applies. Step Two consists of 
asking whether “any alternative, existing process for protecting the interest 
amounts to a convincing reason for the Judicial Branch to refrain from providing a 
new and freestanding remedy in damages.” I can find no such “alternative, existing 
process” here. 
 The Court does not claim that the PLRA provides plaintiffs with a remedy. 
Rather, it says that the plaintiffs may have “had available to them” relief in the 
form of a prospective injunction or an application for a writ of habeas corpus. 
Neither a prospective injunction nor a writ of habeas corpus, however, will 
normally provide plaintiffs with redress for harms they have already suffered. . . .
 There being no “alternative, existing process” that provides a “convincing 
reason” for not applying Bivens, we must proceed to Step Three. Doing so, I can 
find no “special factors [that] counse[l] hesitation before authorizing” this Bivens 
action. I turn to this matter next. 

II 
A 

 The Court describes two general considerations that it believes argue against 
an “extension” of Bivens. First, the majority opinion points out that the Court is 
now far less likely than at the time it decided Bivens to imply a cause of action for 
damages from a statute that does not explicitly provide for a damages claim. 
Second, it finds the “silence” of Congress “notable” in that Congress, though likely 
aware of the “high-level policies” involved in this suit, did not “choose to extend to 
any person the kind of remedies” that the plaintiffs here “seek.” I doubt the 
strength of these two general considerations. 
 The first consideration, in my view, is not relevant [because the cases 
implying damages remedies for statutes was not the main basis for the decision in 
Bivens]. . . . 
 Nor is the second circumstance — congressional silence — relevant in the 
manner that the majority opinion describes. The Court initially saw that silence as 
indicating an absence of congressional hostility to the Court’s exercise of its 
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traditional remedy-inferring powers. Congress’ subsequent silence contains strong 
signs that it accepted Bivens actions as part of the law. . . . 

B 
 The majority opinion also sets forth a more specific list of factors that it says 
bear on “whether a case presents a new Bivens context.” In the Court’s view, a 
“case might differ” from Bivens “in a meaningful way because of [1] the rank of the 
officers involved; [2] the constitutional right at issue; [3] the generality or 
specificity of the individual action; [4] the extent of judicial guidance as to how an 
officer should respond to the problem or emergency to be confronted; [5] the 
statutory or other legal mandate under which the officer was operating; [6] the risk 
of disruptive intrusion by the Judiciary into the functioning of other branches; 
[7] or the presence of potential special factors that previous Bivens cases did not 
consider.” Ante, at 16. In my view, these factors do not make a “meaningful 
difference” at Step One of the Bivens framework. Some of them are better cast as 
“special factors” relevant to Step Three. But, as I see it, none should normally 
foreclose a Bivens action and none is determinative here. 

* * * 
C 

 In my view, the Court’s strongest argument is that Bivens should not apply 
to policy-related actions taken in times of national-security need, for example, 
during war or national-security emergency. As the Court correctly points out, the 
Constitution grants primary power to protect the Nation’s security to the 
Executive and Legislative Branches, not to the Judiciary. But the Constitution also 
delegates to the Judiciary the duty to protect an individual’s fundamental 
constitutional rights. Hence when protection of those rights and a determination of 
security needs conflict, the Court has a role to play. . . . 
 [A] Bivens action comes accompanied by many legal safeguards designed to 
prevent the courts from interfering with Executive and Legislative Branch activity 
reasonably believed to be necessary to protect national security. . . . The 
Constitution itself takes account of public necessity. Thus, for example, the Fourth 
Amendment does not forbid all Government searches and seizures; it forbids only 
those that are “unreasonable.” Ordinarily, it requires that a police officer obtain a 
search warrant before entering an apartment, but should the officer observe a 
woman being dragged against her will into that apartment, he should, and will, act 
at once. The Fourth Amendment makes allowances for such “exigent 
circumstances.” What is unreasonable and illegitimate in time of peace may be 
reasonable and legitimate in time of war. 
 Moreover, Bivens comes accompanied with a qualified-immunity defense. 
Federal officials will face suit only if they have violated a constitutional right that 
was “clearly established” at the time they acted. 
 Further, in order to prevent the very presence of a Bivens lawsuit from 
interfering with the work of a Government official, this Court has held that a 
complaint must state a claim for relief that is “plausible.” 
 Finally, where such a claim is filed, courts can, and should, tailor discovery 
orders so that they do not unnecessarily or improperly interfere with the official’s 
work. . . . 
 Given these safeguards against undue interference by the Judiciary in times 
of war or national-security emergency, the Court’s abolition, or limitation of, 
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Bivens actions goes too far. If you are cold, put on a sweater, perhaps an overcoat, 
perhaps also turn up the heat, but do not set fire to the house. 
 At the same time, there may well be a particular need for Bivens remedies 
when security-related Government actions are at issue. History tells us of far too 
many instances where the Executive or Legislative Branch took actions during 
time of war that, on later examination, turned out unnecessarily and unreasonably 
to have deprived American citizens of basic constitutional rights. . . . 
 Can we, in respect to actions taken during those periods, rely exclusively, as 
the Court seems to suggest, upon injunctive remedies or writs of habeas corpus, 
their retail equivalent? Complaints seeking that kind of relief typically come during 
the emergency itself, when emotions are strong, when courts may have too little or 
inaccurate information, and when courts may well prove particularly reluctant to 
interfere with even the least well-founded Executive Branch activity. 
 A damages action, however, is typically brought after the emergency is over, 
after emotions have cooled, and at a time when more factual information is 
available. In such circumstances, courts have more time to exercise such judicial 
virtues as calm reflection and dispassionate application of the law to the facts. . . . 
 With respect, I dissent. 

Notes 
 1. Ziglar significantly changes the analysis for determining whether to 
recognize a Bivens remedy. In Bivens, the Court adopted a presumption that 
individuals could bring an implied damages action for violations of the Constitution, 
invoking the traditional maxim that where there is a violation of a legal right, there 
is a remedy. The Court suggested that such an action would not lie only if Congress 
had created an alternative remedy or if anomalous, special factors counseled 
hesitation. Although the Court had exhibited antipathy towards recognizing new 
Bivens remedies for many years, it continued to adhere to the analysis set forth in 
Bivens. 
 In Ziglar, the Court effectively reverses that presumption. Although 
continuing to maintain the rule that a Biven remedy will not lie only if there are 
special factors counseling hesitation, the Court suggests that most cases present 
such special factors and accordingly bar the creation of an implied remedy for 
damages for constitutional violations. 
 2. In Ziglar, although the Court declines to overrule its prior decisions 
recognizing Bivens remedies, it says that expanding Bivens is now a “disfavored” 
judicial activity. It explains that although Bivens remedies may deter officials from 
violating the Constitution, they may overdeter and otherwise interfere with 
executive officials. According to the Court, the “balance” between these competing 
interests “is one for the Congress, and not the Judiciary, to undertake.” Does this 
analysis suggest that expanding Bivens is not merely disfavored, but prohibited? 
In what situations might the Court recognize a new Bivens remedy? 

Problem 
 Sergio Caldor is a citizen of Mexico. He is walking down a dry riverbed that 
separates El Paso, Texas, from Juarez, Mexico. The border between the United 
States and Mexico runs down the middle of the riverbed. While he is walking down 
the Mexican side of the riverbed, Caldor sees United States Border Patrol agent 
John Smith on the United States side. Caldor begins taunting Agent Smith by 
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calling him names. In response to the taunts, Agent Smith, while standing in U.S. 
territory, shoots his gun across the Mexican border and severely wounds Caldor. 
 Caldor subsequently files suit against Agent Smith in federal district court. 
He seeks damages under a Bivens theory, alleging that Agent Smith violated 
Caldor’s rights under the Fourth and Fifth Amendments. Agent Smith moves to 
dismiss, arguing that Caldor’s Bivens claim arises in a new context and that the 
court should not recognize the action because there are special factors counselling 
hesitation. Should the district court dismiss Caldor’s action? 
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